# CYCLIC VACUUM CAVITATION FOR CLEANING APPLICATIONS

A Thesis

\_\_\_\_\_

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Chemistry

Sam Houston State University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

by

\_\_\_\_\_

R. W. U. Nethmini Ariyarathna

August, 2021

## CYCLIC VACUUM CAVITATION FOR CLEANING APPLICATIONS

by

R. W. U. Nethmini Ariyarathna

APPROVED:

Darren L. Williams, PhD Committee Director

David E. Thompson, PhD Committee Co-Director

Tarek Trad, PhD Committee Member

John B. Pascarella, PhD Dean, College of Science & Engineering Technology

## DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate my thesis to my greatest research advisor, Dr. Darren L. Williams, my parents, my loving and caring husband, Sakitha Ariyarathne, and all the teachers who taught me and helped me to enhance my academic knowledge.

#### ABSTRACT

Nethmini Ariyarathna R.W.U., *Cyclic vacuum cavitation for cleaning applications*. Master of Science (Chemistry), August 2021, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas.

The removal of micron-sized carbon black particles from capillary tubes (outer diameter 1.46 mm, inner diameter 1.12 mm, length 50.00 mm) using cyclic vacuum cavitation (VC) cleaning was investigated. As the first objective of this study, the VC apparatus was constructed. This VC setup allowed video monitoring of the cleaning process. Photographs, video recordings, and gravimetric analysis tests were used to identify the cleaning efficiencies. As the second part, the carbon black powder removal efficiencies were used to compare cyclic VC and ultrasonic cavitation (UC) cleaning. Cyclic VC coupled with deionized (DI) water was able to remove  $67 \pm 7\%$ of carbon black powder from contaminated capillary tubes. Solutions of 1% sodium lauryl sulfate (SLS) in DI water successfully removed  $82 \pm 7\%$  of carbon black powder using fifteen vacuum cycles at room temperature. The UC process was unable to flush the carbon black soil from the internal volume of the capillary tubes. The cleaning was more effective with cyclic VC than UC cleaning at given conditions. Raising the temperature, of the liquid increased cavitation and caused better wetting of the carbon black powder at the bottom of the tubes. The optimized VC process parameters (25 vacuum cycles, 1%) SLS in DI water, vigorous stirring at 40 °C) removed  $99 \pm 1\%$  of the carbon black powder. This study showed experimental evidence that cyclic VC is a good cleaning approach for cleaning parts that have deep blind holes.

KEYWORDS: Cyclic vacuum cavitation cleaning, Ultrasonic cleaning, VC apparatus, Capillary tubes, Carbon black powder removal

iv

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The financial support for this research project was provided by the Department of Chemistry at SHSU and the Robert A. Welch Foundation.

I would like to express my heartiest gratitude to my research advisor Dr. Darren L. Williams for his continuous guidance and motivation during my research. His insightful feedback pushed me to sharpen my thinking and brought my work to a higher level. All the support in the writing and revision of this thesis was provided by Dr. Darren L. Williams (committee director), Dr. David E. Thompson (committee member), Dr. Tarek Trad (committee member), and the Newton Gresham Library of SHSU. Their corrections towards my thesis and support for my defense is much appreciated.

This research would not have been possible without the professors of the department of chemistry at SHSU and cleaning group research members especially Tanner Volek.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DEDICATIONiii
ABSTRACTiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
TABLE OF CONTENTS vi
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION
Cleaning and surface properties
Boundary layer
Cleaning methods
Ultrasonic cavitation cleaning
VC and its applications11
Capillary tube cleaning using cyclic VC
Creation of vacuum cavities
Temperature dependence of cavitation pressure
Vapor pressure of 1% SLS in DI water 17
Surfactant role in cyclic VC
Foaming of surfactants 19
Methods for monitoring surface cleanliness
CHAPTER II: MATERIAL AND METHODS
Chemicals and other materials

	Gravimetric analysis	21
	Image analysisError! Bookmark not defi	ned.
	Structural & Operational Information about cyclic VC	22
	Observation of cavitation	27
	Sample Preparation	28
	Contamination level of carbon black powder in capillary tubes	30
	The limit of detection (LOD) value of the balance	31
	Screening of surfactant foaming properties using the cyclic VC method	32
	The number of vacuum cycles	32
	Comparison of cyclic VC cleaning to ultrasonic cleaning	33
	Cyclic VC cleaning at different temperatures	34
	Tape residue confirmation study of the capillary tubes	35
	Statistical analysis	35
	Final confirmation study of cyclic VC cleaning	35
CH	APTER III: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	36
	Cavity observation and cyclic VC cleaning	36
	Foam behavior of surfactants	37
	Cyclic VC cleaning with DI water and 1% SLS/DI water	38
	Comparison of cyclic VC cleaning to ultrasonic cleaning	40
	Damage from cavitation in UC and VC cleaning methods	46
	Temperature effect for the cleaning efficiencies in cyclic VC	48
	Surface contamination level of the capillary tubes	51
	Tape residue confirmation study	52

Optimization of cleaning in cyclic VC	. 52
CHAPTER IV	. 55
CHAPTER IV: CONCLUSIONS	. 55
CHAPTER V	. 57
CHAPTER V: FUTURE STUDIES	. 57
REFERENCES	. 58
VITA	. 62

# LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1	Types of soil and their cleaner types
2	Comparison of vapor pressure values of water and 1% SLS solution at different
	temperatures
3	List of surfactants used in this study
4	Comparison of cleaning ability (%R) of vacuum cavitation (VC), wet/dry
	ultrasonic cavitation (UC), and vertical/horizontal sample orientation at room
	temperature
5	Percentage removals at different temperatures
6	Percentage removals of final confirmation study using cyclic VC cleaning 53

LIST	OF	FIG	URES
------	----	-----	------

Figure	Page
1	Nature of the soil
2	Boundary layer diagram
3	The implosion of transient vapor cavities in ultrasonic cleaning
4	Ultrasonic cleaning with near-surface and interior-surface
5	Growth of vacuum generated cavities near-surface and interior-surface
6	Growing cavities in the vacuum chamber
7	Pressure -temperature diagram of water 15
8	Vapor pressure of water and Clausius-Clapeyron vapor pressure equation 16
9	VC apparatus
10	Water aspirator pump model
11	Pressure gauge showing 0 inches of mercury gauge pressure $(Pg)$ 26
12	Making plexiglass windows using the miter saw (left) and mill (right)27
13	Observation of vertical capillary tubes using two prism plexiglass windows 28
14	ImageJ analysis of (a) outer and (b) inner diameter measurements of the capillary
	tube
15	Soiled wet capillary tubes
16	Inner, outer diameters and the inner tube length of the capillary tube
17	Experimental setup for temperature experiments with horizontal capillary tubes.
18	Cleaning process by cavitation effect

19	Images of foam and cavity formation of 1% surfactant solutions in DI water at
	different temperatures in the vacuum chamber
20	Percentage removals of CB powder with the number of vacuum cycles at room
	temperature
21	Effect of ultrasonic vibration in horizontal dry capillary tube cleaning
22	CB powder is stuck in the tip of the capillary tubes in vertical dry UC cleaning.
23	Multi-Vari chart for the percentage removals using cyclic VC and UC cleaning
	methods with dry and wet capillary tubes by changing the orientation of the tubes
	using different cleaning solutions
24	Mean percent removals with (a) different cleaning methods, (b) capillary tube
	orientation in VC cleaning, (c) capillary tube orientation in UC cleaning, and (d)
	dry and wet capillary tubes in UC cleaning
25	Damage initiated by UC on sharpie areas of foil-covered microscope slides in
	comparison to VC cleaning method
26	comparison to VC cleaning method
26 27	comparison to VC cleaning method.48Multi-sample t-test analysis at different temperatures.50Two-sample t-test for stirring and non-stirring.51
26 27 28	<ul> <li>comparison to VC cleaning method</li></ul>

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### Introduction

The overall objective of this thesis is to provide a detailed study of the cyclic vacuum cavitation (VC) cleaning method. Cyclic VC is a promising new method to clean components with blind holes and complex geometries. This study will first determine if a small lab-scale apparatus can be built to clean soiled capillary tubes. Exposure to a vacuum can form cavities inside a cleaning fluid. These vacuum-generated cavities help to gently remove soil particles from the soiled components. The generation and dissolution of cavities can be cycled as much as needed to produce a very effective and very gentle cleaning action. Capillary tubes are an extreme example of what is called blind holes in manufacturing. Blind holes are very difficult to clean. For example, ultrasonic cleaning has difficulty removing contaminants within blind holes or tubes since ultrasonic cavitation does not flush internal surfaces effectively. Therefore, the second goal of this study is to document the performance differences between ultrasonic cavitation and vacuum cavitation methods with capillary tubes.

Early studies of the cyclic vacuum cavitation process were performed by Donald Gray and Richard W. Plavidal.<sup>1,2</sup> Plavidal and Gray called this technique "vacuum cycle nucleation", and others call this the "cyclic nucleation process".<sup>3</sup> They include the word nucleation in their description of the method which emphasizes the initiation of cavities in the cleaning fluid. However, we have chosen to call this technique "vacuum cavitation" cleaning to emphasize the phenomenon that causes the cavitation. Our phenomenon-based terminology is similar to the use of ultrasonic to describe the phenomenon causing cavitation in ultrasonic cavitation cleaning. Plavidal was able to create a dynamic chamber for vacuum cavitation.<sup>2</sup> In this chamber, the chamber volume can be cyclically enlarged and reduced. It will then reduce and increase the chamber pressure.

Fei Chen et al. used vacuum-generated cavities to clean bacterial spores from a series of surrogate spacecraft materials using  $H_2O_2$  as the cleaning fluid at 60 °C.<sup>4</sup> This method completely cleaned the bacterial spores with a 99.90 confidence level. Since  $H_2O_2$  was considered as a sporicidal agent, Fei Chen and group needed to show that the spores were removed from the sample surfaces. Even though highly concentrated  $H_2O_2$  cleaning fluid was used, it did not show any significant sporicidal activity at the temperature used in the treatment. This leads them to conclude that spores were not killed and left behind but were actually removed from the sample surfaces.

Zhang Jun et al. discussed vacuum vapor phase cleaning to remove the soil from the bottom side of ball grid arrays (BGA) circuit packages.<sup>5</sup> The cleaning of electronic parts has become difficult due to their complex structures. Modern BGA chips feature gaps in the tens of microns between the chip and the circuit board. After the soldering processes, electronic products can be contaminated with flux residues and other soils. Using vacuum cycle cleaning, solvent can easily enter the gaps beneath BGA chips. Therefore, Zhang Jun and group were able to clean these parts without damaging the solder joints.

This technology has been implemented in the cleaning industry by Vacuum Processing Systems (www.vacuumprocessingsystems.com) and LPW Reinigungssysteme GmbH (www.lpw-reinigungssysteme.de). However, our objective was to document the performance of cyclic VC cleaning in an independent academic study.

### **Cleaning and surface properties**

Selecting a cleaning process for soiled components is a vital step in the manufacturing industry. This selected cleaning process should be fast, efficient and cause the least possible damage to the parts while removing the target contaminant from the surface of the soiled components.<sup>6</sup> Usually, the cleaning techniques are strongly influenced by a range of factors, such as the nature of the soil, substrate properties, cleaning facilities, cost for cleaning, the degree of cleanliness, environmental impact, and the effect of the previous process on the component. Likewise, soils can make chemical and physical interactions with the surface of the components.<sup>7</sup> Thus, understanding component–soil interactions is an important step in cleaning.

Basic processes like cleaning with solvents, cleaning with detergents, chemical reactions and mechanical forces are commonly considered in the parts cleaning industry. Adding a solvent or aqueous solution to dissolve the soil from a soiled component's surface is the most frequently used method in the cleaning industry. The solvent or detergent solution detaches soils from the surface and carries the soil away by flow, spray, agitation, draining, or rinsing. The addition of a chemical to cause a chemical reaction to convert soil to another form so that it can be removed easily is also a common method of the cleaning industry. Mechanical cleaning is done by pushing, scraping, sucking, blowing, beating, rubbing, or physically moving dirt from a component. In addition to these common methods, other complex methods exist such as vapor degreasing, laser cleaning, and glow discharge methods.

## Types of soil

In practice, the amount of soil adsorbed and the adsorption strength will vary widely for different soils because of different soil-surface interactions. Thus, for some strongly adsorbed soils, it is evident that significant amounts of soil will remain on the surface even after extensive cleaning. Different types of soil and their cleaner types are listed in Table 1. They can be categorized as organic, inorganic, petroleum and combination soils.

Soil type	Examples	Cleaner type
Organic	Living matter, food	Alkaline aqueous
Inorganic	Rust, minerals	Acid aqueous
Petroleum	Oil, grease	Petroleum solvents and/or
		aqueous detergents
Combination		Combinations of the above

Table 1. Types of soil and their cleaner types

Generally, alkaline or basic aqueous cleaners are used to remove organic soils from the components. Inorganic soils can be identified as minerals, scale, or rust. To remove them, acidic aqueous cleaners are commonly used. Petroleum soils are typically oils and greases. They can be removed using petroleum-type solvents and also alkaline aqueous cleaning solutions. Of course, soil can be a combination of all these soil types. To clean these kinds of soils, a combination of different types of cleaners can be used. Furthermore, soil can be divided into polar and nonpolar depending on its water solubility (Figure 1).



*Figure 1. Nature of the soil.* **Boundary layer** 

Cleaning the soil from the surface frequently involves the use of cleaning fluid. Therefore, the properties of fluid-surface interactions are important when trying to remove soils from the surface. The fluid region near the surface is the laminar flow region which moves very little. There is a boundary where the fluid changes from being a surface-interacting laminar fluid to a bulk, freely-moving fluid which exhibits turbulent flow. The laminar flow layers can be seen close to the surface in Figure 2. Ultrasonic cavitation takes place in the bulk fluid and has some difficulty interacting directly with the surface because of the boundary layer of surface fluid. Micro jets of collapsing (transient) ultrasonic cavities can shoot through this boundary layer, but these same jets can damage the surface of the part (Figure 3). Vacuum-generated cavities form at the surface so they are by definition inside the boundary layer of the fluid.



Figure 2. Boundary layer diagram.



*Figure 3. The implosion of transient vapor cavities in ultrasonic cleaning.* 

## **Cleaning methods**

Though there are many cleaning methods, this section only discusses cleaning with solvents, cleaning with detergents, and cavitation cleaning.

### Cleaning with solvents

Cleaning with detergents

The interactions between the soil and the solvent will determine whether the soil will dissolve in the solvent. If the soil-surface interaction is strong compared to the soilsolvent interaction, dissolution of soil will not happen. Otherwise, the soil will dissolve in the solvent. To determine this phenomenon, Hansen Solubility Parameters (HSPs) can be used. Hansen solubility parameters were created by Charles M. Hansen in 1967 as part of his Ph.D. thesis. They were developed through the like-dissolves-like properties of the solvents.<sup>8</sup> Molecular interactions between soil and solvent depend upon the chemical species of the soil and solvent. After determining the species in the soil, HSP solvent blends can be applied to the cleaning process. Furthermore, the solubility of non-polar hydrocarbon molecules in water, such as oils and greases, is very low because they cannot make hydrogen bonds with water. Therefore, water alone cannot clean non-polar molecules. Alcohols are commonly used for cleaning applications. They can interact with both polar and non-polar molecules. The strength of the interaction depends on the aliphatic chain length. Also, they can form hydrogen bonds. Therefore, they can dissolve various chemical species. Their main disadvantages are flammability and toxicity. Halogenated solvents are very effective in dissolving many types of greases, but some are toxic.<sup>7</sup> Therefore, before selecting a solvent for the cleaning application, it is crucial to consider the nature of the soil and solvent, toxicity and flammability of the solvent.

A detergent is a blend of surfactant and water. A surfactant is a surface-active agent, a substance that can reduce the surface tension of water through preferential association with the air-liquid interface. Surfactants consist of a hydrophilic head group and a hydrophobic tail group. Therefore, they can associate with both hydrophilic and hydrophobic chemical groups.<sup>7</sup> Typically, the cleaning mechanism of a surfactant can be twofold. At first, the surfactant reduces the surface tension of the aqueous cleaning solution allowing water to flow into small spaces that pure water would avoid. As well, it lowers the surface energy of the substrate avoiding re-adsorption of the contamination.<sup>7</sup> The contact area of the contaminant with the surface is decreased and removal of soil through agitation becomes straightforward. Secondly, the contaminant may be surrounded by the surfactant and captured in a micelle. Recontamination is avoided as the micelle is dispersed in the solvent.<sup>9</sup>

#### Cleaning with cavities

Cavities are well-known for their cleaning potential.<sup>10</sup> They can be generated by sound waves, lasers, reduced pressure, or other techniques. Cavitation is defined as the formation of void space within a fluid. Cavities are different from bubbles. Bubbles are identified as a pocket of air surrounded by a liquid film suspended in air. The literature on cavitation dates back to Rayleigh. Rayleigh was the first known person to study cavitation by its erosion potential.<sup>11</sup> The properties of cavitation are influenced by the properties of the liquid, such as surface tension, vapor pressure and viscosity.<sup>12</sup> Cavities produce by sound waves can oscillate with the frequency of the sound waves (stable cavitation) or they can violently collapse with sonic pressure forming high-velocity jets of fluid (transient cavitation).<sup>13</sup> Cavities in higher surface tension liquids release higher energy when they collapse. Thus, water shows a greater transient cavitation cleaning action than the organic solvents used in some industrial cleaning methods. When the viscosity of the liquid increases, cavity oscillation and growth are hindered gradually.

The cavity size is mainly determined by the vapor pressure of the liquid. Cavitation action of liquids with high vapor pressure is more rapid than the liquids with low vapor pressure.

In vacuum-generated cavitation, the pressure in a liquid is reduced to slightly below its vapor pressure. Pascal's Law states that all surfaces including interior surfaces see the same pressure.<sup>14</sup> Therefore, cavities can be formed on the exterior surfaces as well as interior surfaces of components with complex geometries. Also, If the pressure is held below the fluid's vapor pressure, cavities will increase in size.<sup>11,15</sup> When the pressure is higher than the vapor pressure of the fluid, the cavity will decrease in size eventually dissolving in the fluid.

Vacuum-generated cavitation is favored by high-energy locations in the fluid. These high-energy areas are adjacent to impurities, defects, and sharp edges on the surface of the components being cleaned. For this reason, cavitation is often observed to begin near scratches on the surface of the component (The reader is encouraged to look for this phenomenon of cavitation near scratches in the bottom of a sauce pan next time they boil water in the stove).

#### Ultrasonic cavitation cleaning

There are many cleaning methods in the parts cleaning industry and ultrasonic technology is the most commonly used cleaning method due to its low cost and easy maintenance.<sup>16,17</sup> Ultrasonic cleaning technology was developed in the early 1950s. This technology uses sound waves to generate cavitation. Ultrasound is sound with a frequency above 18 kHz that cannot be heard by the human ear.<sup>12</sup> The commonly used frequencies for industrial cleaning are between 20 kHz and 50 kHz.<sup>4,18</sup> There are many

cleaning systems that use frequencies in the 100's of kHz, which have the benefit of reducing the boundary layer and reducing the percentage of potentially damaging transient cavitation. Some systems feature gentle cleaning for semiconductor wafers in the megasonic range with frequencies near 1MHz.<sup>19</sup> If the amplitude of the sound wave is large enough, then cavities form in the liquid inside the cleaning tank. The size of the ultrasonic cavity depends on the ultrasonic frequency. Higher ultrasonic frequencies produce smaller cavities than lower frequencies at equivalent amplitudes.<sup>7</sup>

#### Damage from transient cavitation

When cavities are created, there is a pressure difference inside  $(P_i)$  and outside  $(P_o)$  of the cavity that is governed by the Young-Laplace equation.<sup>20</sup> The pressure difference for a spherical cavity is given as follows;

$$P_i - P_o = \frac{2S}{r} \tag{1}$$

where  $P_i$  and  $P_o$  are inside and outside pressure of the cavity respectively. The S and r represent the surface tension of liquid and cavity radius. Therefore, small cavities generate large pressure differences while large cavities generate small pressure differences.

The ultrasonic cavities grow and collapse with the frequency of the sound. This process is known as acoustic cavitation.<sup>14</sup> As the cavities grow, they experience pressure from the oscillating sound wave. Due to this increasing pressure, the cavity can either shrink (stable cavitation) or implode releasing a microjet of fluid (transient cavitation). These microjets in the turbulent region of the fluid flow randomly in all directions. Those jets that are directed towards the component surface are effective in flushing soil from the surface. At high sonic powers (high amplitude) the violent collapse of transient cavities is

capable of causing damage to the surface of soft metals and coatings. In aqueous solutions, the temperatures and pressures achieved through these collapsing cavities can reach 6000 K and 1000 atm.<sup>13</sup> The mechanism of cavity growth, implosion, and microjet release during the implosion is shown in Figure 3. The sonic shockwaves and streaming liquid microjets can dislodge soil particles and films from the surface of the parts. After the molecular attraction of the soil to the surface of the component is broken, the soil can be flushed away by the laminar and turbulent flow of the cleaning fluid.<sup>12</sup> But, when it comes to the cleaning of components with blind holes and complex geometries, ultrasonic cavitation has difficulty flushing internal volumes effectively as shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Ultrasonic cleaning with near-surface and interior-surface.

## VC and its applications

The cyclic VC cleaning technique is accomplished by reducing the total pressure in a vacuum chamber that contains the cleaning solution and the components to be cleaned. The components are submerged in the cleaning solution. The reduced pressure results in the formation of cavities at the surface of soiled components. These vacuumgenerated cavities form at the solid surface and grow inside the boundary layer.<sup>14</sup> The expanding cavities can push the soil away from the surfaces of the component and disperse the soil into the cleaning fluid as shown in Figure 5. When the vacuum is suddenly removed, the cavities collapse and produce a flushing effect, a density-related inertial effect, and a viscous drag on the surface of the component to be cleaned.<sup>14</sup> On the initial pressure cycle, the cleaning solution is forced into the vacant spaces within the soiled component. Once the soil comes in contact with the cleaning solvent, the soil can enter the cleaning solvent. This washing-mechanical effect can be cycled as often as needed. Therefore, this method is called "cyclic vacuum cavitation cleaning".



Figure 5. Growth of vacuum generated cavities near-surface and interior-surface.

Tight areas are perfect nucleation points to grow vacuum-generated cavities. The reduced pressure helps to form and grow cavities on these nucleation sites. These growing cavities force fluid out from the component's internal structure. When the vacuum is broken, clean bulk fluid enters the tight spaces of the component. Cycling of

vacuum and ambient pressure removes contaminants and brings fresh cleaning fluid to the surface of the component. Since the vacuum cavitation starts at the component surface, there is no need to break through the boundary layer with potentially damaging microjets. The cavities grow steadily until their size causes them to separate from the surface.<sup>21</sup> Thus, potential damage to the components can be avoided with the cyclic VC cleaning method. Cleaning processes based on VC have been implemented in the semiconductor industry, medical technology, 3D printing, and the optical industry.<sup>21,14</sup> **Capillary tube cleaning using cyclic VC** 

Capillary tubes act as blind holes. Therefore, they are very hard to clean with traditional cleaning methods. Ultrasonic cavitation has difficulty flushing blind holes efficiently. But, vacuum-generated cavities can grow inside both the cleaning fluid and the capillaries (Figure 6). Since these cavities form on the internal surface of the capillaries, growing cavities can push the soil out of the opening. Breaking the vacuum brings fresh fluid into the capillaries.



Figure 6. Growing cavities in the vacuum chamber.

## **Creation of vacuum cavities**

The phase diagram of water shows the temperatures and pressures at which the various phases of water can exist and the temperatures and pressures at which the various phases are in equilibrium.<sup>22</sup> The point at which all three lines meet is the triple point. At this point, all three phases of water (ice, liquid, and gas) coexist in equilibrium. At pressures and temperatures above the critical point, a supercritical fluid emerges, which fills the whole container like a gas but has the density of a liquid. If pure water at state A (Figure 7) is depressurized at a constant temperature, liquid water becomes vapor at state C. Also, the state will come to equilibrium at a point such as B. Thus, instead of raising the temperature to the normal boiling point of the water, water can be boiled by reducing the pressure.





This research is focused on the pressure range between 0.01 and 1.00 bar and temperature between 17.8 and 40 °C. In this region, liquid water starts to form vapor cavities at 0.018 bar at 17.8 °C. Figure 8 shows the vapor pressure of water at different temperatures up to 40 °C. When the temperature of water increases, the kinetic energy of molecules is increased. As the kinetic energy of the molecules increases, the number of molecules transitioning into the vapor phase increases causing an increase in the vapor pressure.

#### Temperature dependence of cavitation pressure

As described in the previous section, the equilibrium between liquid water and water vapor depends upon the temperature of the system. If the temperature of the water is increased the vapor pressure is increased. This relationship for the two phases is given by the Clausius-Clapeyron equation. In this case, two phases are water vapor and liquid water. Figure 8 shows how water vapor pressure is increased with the temperature.



Figure 8. Vapor pressure of water and Clausius-Clapeyron vapor pressure equation.

Vacuum cavitation occurs when the chamber pressure is reduced to the vaporliquid equilibrium pressure (i.e. the boiling point) at the temperature of the cleaning fluid. This is merely a different way to boil the fluid, reducing the pressure rather than raising the temperature. It should also be noted that temperature changes in the system can alter the cavitation process. Since the vacuum system is pulling the most energetic molecules of liquid vapor out of the chamber, over time, the liquid temperature will drop substantially. A source of heat is often needed to keep the vapor pressure of the liquid high enough to continue cavitation. Also, increasing the temperature reduces the solubility of dissolved gases resulting in better cleaning.<sup>23</sup>

#### Vapor pressure of 1% SLS in DI water

In this study, sodium lauryl sulfate (SLS) was used as the cleaning solution. Sodium lauryl sulfate is also known as sodium dodecyl sulfate. It is an anionic surfactant commonly used as a cleaning agent in household cleaning products. SLS can be synthetic or naturally produced. It is synthesized by reacting lauryl alcohol from a petroleum or plant source with sulfur trioxide to produce hydrogen lauryl sulfate, which is then neutralized with sodium carbonate to produce SLS.<sup>24</sup> Importantly, it is found that the use of SLS does not cause a risk to consumers or the environment.<sup>24</sup> The vapor pressure of SLS solutions has been studied previously.<sup>25</sup> Peixun Li et al. determined the vapor pressure of the aqueous solutions of SLS ranging from 0% to 10% (mass percent concentration) at different temperatures. Since 1% SLS in DI water was used in the current study, it is important to know the vapor pressure of 1% SLS at different temperatures. This can be also shown using a small calculation. If 18.015 g of water is taken to make a solution of 1% SLS, 0.180 g of SLS is needed. Then, the mole fraction of the solvent can be calculated as follows. The molar mass of SLS is 288.372 g mol<sup>-1</sup>.

$$X_{SLS} = \frac{moles \ of \ SLS}{moles \ of \ water + moles \ of \ SLS}$$
$$X_{SLS} = \frac{0.00062 \ mol}{1 \ mol + 0.00062 \ mol}$$
$$X_{SLS} = 0.00062$$
$$X_{water} = 1 - 0.00062 = 0.9994$$

Using Raoult's law, the vapor pressure of 1% SLS solution can be calculated at 25 °C.

$$P_{1\% SLS \ solution} = X_{water} \times P_{water}$$

$$P_{1\% SLS \ solution} = 0.9994 \times 0.029 \ bar$$

 $P_{1\% SLS \ solution} = 0.029 \ bar$ 

All these results can be seen in Table 2. From these data, it can be concluded that

a 1% SLS solution has essentially the same vapor pressure as pure water.

*Table 2. Comparison of vapor pressure values of water and 1% SLS solution at different temperatures* 

Temperature / °C	C Vapor pressure of water		Vapor pressure of 1% SLS solution / bar	
	bar	Torr	Peixun Li et al data <sup>25</sup>	Raoult's law
17.8	0.018	13	-	0.018
20.0	0.021	16	-	0.021
25.0	0.029	21	0.029	0.029
30.0	0.039	29	0.039	0.039
35.0	0.053	39	0.052	0.053
40.0	0.070	52	0.070	0.070

## Surfactant role in cyclic VC

As previously discussed a surfactant reduces the surface tension of the cleaning solution. When the surface tension is reduced, cavitation increases. More cavitation leads to more cleaning and flushing of internal structures. Thus, the addition of a cleaning detergent increases the overall effectiveness of the cyclic VC process. However, at certain concentrations and temperatures, surfactants can create a stable and growing foam layer, which may cause problems with vacuum pumps and with cleaning tanks.

### **Foaming of surfactants**

Foam consists of gas bubbles separated by liquid layers that are normally stabilized by surfactants. Foamability is a measure for the foam-generating power of a surfactant solution while foam stability is a measure for the time foams resist destruction.<sup>26</sup> The foamability of a surfactant depends on the temperature, the type of surfactant, and the concentration. In some cleaning processes, foams can be used to remove soil from the components. For example, in the cleaning of radioactive vessels, a good foaming agent is applied.<sup>27</sup> In cyclic VC cleaning, foam is not desired as it can enter the vacuum system potentially degrading its effectiveness. Oil-based vacuum systems do not perform well with substantial water contamination. Inexpensive water aspiration vacuum systems are not affected by water vapor, surfactant, or foam absorption and are therefore preferred.

#### Methods for monitoring surface cleanliness

Reliable methods are needed to determine the cleanliness of components. Normally, quantitative methods are preferred over qualitative methods as they can be easily applied for statistical evaluation. In many industries, cleaning is evaluated by visual inspection. Qualitative methods of evaluating cleanliness like visual inspection vary from place to place mainly due to the variability in the analyst. Photographic and video analysis can reduce or correct human errors in the results. Photographs of parts before and after cleaning can be analyzed in image software to calculate quantitative cleanliness values. Advanced microscopy techniques can be used such as visible, infrared, Raman, transmission electron microscopy (TEM), scanning electron microscopy-energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (SEM-EDS), and atomic force microscopy (AFM). There is a trade-off between magnification and field of view, and these techniques require viewing access or direct access to the surface that was cleaned.<sup>16</sup> It is difficult to evaluate cleanliness in 50 mm  $\times$  1 mm capillary tubes using those techniques. Therefore, in this study, gravimetric analysis was used to calculate the percentage removal (%R) of soil from the tubes.

Gravimetric analysis is a common method for measuring cleanliness because it is relatively inexpensive requiring only an analytical balance. It can detect soils on component surfaces down to the  $\mu$ g/cm<sup>2</sup> level and is a direct direct and rapid analytical method. However, it is not as sensitive as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) on extracted soils. Expensive instrumental analytical techniques like HPLC require a soil that is soluble in the mobile phase, which is a problem with a sooty soil like our carbon black sample.

## **CHAPTER II**

#### Material and methods

#### Chemicals and other materials

The surfactants examined in this study are shown in Table 3.

Table 3. List of surfactants used in this study

Name	Form	Supplier
Sodium lauryl sulfate (SLS)	Powder	
Alconox	Powder	Alconox
Detergent 8 solution	Liquid	Alconox
Hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB)	Powder	

Other materials used in this study include a vacuum chamber (Figure 9), rotary vane vacuum pump (Welch 8907A), water aspirator vacuum pump (Eyela A-1000S), temperature probe (P4015 digital thermometer), high-resolution camera (Canon Rebel T6i), 45 kHz ultrasonic bath (Crest ultrasonics, P500D), oven, USB microscope (Celestron, 44308), 4-place analytical balance (Ohaus Adventurer Pro AV64), 5-place analytical balance (KERN ABT120-5DM), and a stirring hot plate (Fisher Scientific Isotemp). Carbon black powder (Jacquard, PearlEx 640, particle size 10 to 60 microns) was used as the model soil in all the experiments.

#### Gravimetric analysis

In the present study, before the cleaning process began, the empty weight of individual capillary tubes was measured. The capillary tubes were filled with carbon black powder soil and the weight of soil in tubes was measured. The contaminated samples were cleaned. The weight of the cleaned samples was measured and recorded. All of the weights mentioned above were measured in grams (g). The soil removal percentage was calculated based on the general equation below: If the mass of the carbon black powder soil for before and after cleaning scenarios is represented as  $M_{CB}^{before}$  and  $M_{CB}^{after}$  respectively, %R can be calculated using Eq. 2.

$$\%R = \frac{M_{CB}^{before} - M_{CB}^{after}}{M_{CB}^{before}} 100 \%$$
(2)

#### **Structural & Operational Information about cyclic VC**

One of the main purposes of this project was to construct a VC apparatus for use for blind hole cleaning. The VC apparatus includes a vacuum chamber, a vacuum pump, a hose to connect the chamber to the pump, valves to control the vacuum, a vacuum pressure gauge to measure the pressure inside the chamber, and a temperature probe to measure the temperature inside the vacuum chamber. The components to be cleaned are submerged in a bath of cleaning liquid. The vacuum pump applies a negative gauge pressure to the chamber to remove air. Pulling air from the vacuum chamber can produce cavities on the component surface and inside blind holes and pores. Purging the vacuum with room air collapse the cavities bringing fresh cleaning fluid to the component surface and inside blind holes and pores. This process is called one vacuum cycle. Temperature can be controlled using a hot plate. Visual monitoring of the chamber interior is made possible through a clear plexiglass lid (Figure 9).



Figure 9. VC apparatus.

Figure 9 illustrates the VC system. The blue purge valve is coupled to the chamber to release the chamber pressure. The red vacuum valve is used to pull the vacuum. The vacuum chamber can be kept on a hot plate to heat the cleaning liquid to a required temperature. The cyclic vacuum cavitation process can be performed by opening and closing the red and blue valves. The vacuum chamber can be heated or cooled to maintain a constant temperature of the liquid at the proper pressure. The general operational procedure of cyclic VC cleaning can be as follows;

- 1. Set the camera, hot plate, and digital thermometer.
- 2. Tape the capillary samples inside the cleaning system.
- 3. Submerge the samples in the cleaning liquid.

- 4. Close the purge valve and open the vacuum valve to pull the vacuum. It is important to check the pressure gauge to confirm the pressure is reduced. To achieve 0.01 bar pressure normally takes 20 seconds.
- 5. Observe cavity formation inside the cleaning liquid and capillary tubes.
- 6. When new cavities cease forming in the capillary tubes, close the vacuum valve and open the purge valve to purge the vacuum with room air. This will bring the pressure inside the chamber to ambient pressure which is close to 1 bar atmospheric pressure.
- 7. Repeat steps 4,5 and 6 to cycle the VC cleaning process.

Surfactant solutions were replaced with fresh samples after each trial. The vacuum chamber was cleaned routinely before and after each experiment with tap water and deionized water. Only a soft sponge and absorbent paper tissues were used to contact the stainless steel chamber. The temperature inside the chamber was maintained as a constant throughout the experiment. After using the rotary vane vacuum pump for the preliminary experiments, it was changed to the water aspirator vacuum pump due to its advantages over the rotary vane vacuum pump.

#### Recirculating water aspirator pump

Using a water aspirator pump is an inexpensive way to generate a vacuum. The ultimate pressure of the aspirator pump is determined mainly by the vapor pressure of the liquid in the aspirator tank.<sup>28</sup> Since ice water has lower vapor pressure than water at higher temperatures, the aspirator tank was filled with ice water before the experiment. The aspirator tank is not insulated. So, as the water in the tank recirculates, it warms over time. Also, vapors that are created in the chamber will come to the aspirator tank and will

be diluted by water. The aspirator pump is useful in this study since no precautions need to be taken against the entrance of vapor or foam into the aspirator where they are rapidly diluted with water.<sup>29</sup> Figure 10 shows the water aspirator pump model. In this model, high-velocity water is going through the nozzle into the throat creating a pressure difference due to the venturi effect. Then the air will be sucked from the vacuum chamber to equalize the pressure. This process will create a vacuum inside the chamber.



Figure 10. Water aspirator pump model.
# Pressure gauge

The pressure gauge measures the pressure inside the vacuum chamber relative to atmospheric pressure. Gauge pressure is positive for pressures above atmospheric pressure and negative for pressures below it as shown in Figure 11. Therefore, the absolute pressure can be written as follows;

$$P_{abs} = P_g + P_{atm} \tag{4}$$

where  $P_{abs}$ ,  $P_g$  and  $P_{atm}$  are absolute pressure, gauge pressure and ambient atmospheric pressure respectively. The lowest and highest pressures that can be achieved using this pressure gauge are 0 bar and 1 bar respectively.



Figure 11. Pressure gauge showing 0 inches of mercury gauge pressure  $(P_g)$ .

# **Observation of cavitation**

The observation of cavities in the capillaries is a useful step in cyclic VC cleaning. The Canon Rebel T6i camera and Celestron microscope were used to record the cleaning process. Thick plexiglass windows were made to get a better view of the cavities inside the chamber. They were made using a miter saw and a mill (Figure 12).



*Figure 12. Making plexiglass windows using the miter saw (left) and mill (right).* One rectangular window and two prisms were made for experimental purposes.

Two prisms were taped together to see the reflection of vertical capillary tubes from the top surface of the plexiglass window (Figure 13). The lower of the two prisms served no optical purpose. It was merely used as a base that ensured the top prism could reflect the horizontal view up to the camera.



*Figure 13. Observation of vertical capillary tubes using two prism plexiglass windows.* **Sample Preparation** 

The outer and inner diameters of the capillary tubes were measured using the Celestron microscope and analyzed using ImageJ software (Figure 14). The dimensions were measured using a caliper micrometer. The outer diameter, inner diameter, inner length, and outer length of capillary tubes were 1.46, 1.12, 49.00, and 50.00 mm respectively.



Figure 14. ImageJ analysis of (a) outer and (b) inner diameter measurements of the capillary tube.

All the surfactant solutions were prepared by dissolving the surfactant (1% SLS in 99% DI water) in deionized water. Carbon black powder was used as the model soil in all the experiments because it is not soluble in the cleaning solutions, is easy to track photographically, and will be difficult to remove from blind holes. The amount of material before and after the cleaning was measured using the balance. Both dry and wet capillary tubes were prepared for cleaning analysis. Capillary tubes were soiled with carbon black powder up to 15.00 mm in length by tapping. Wet capillary tubes for ultrasonic experiments were prepared using one vacuum cycle in the vacuum chamber to fill them with the cleaning solution. These prepared wet capillaries are shown in Figure 15. After the cleaning treatment, the cleaned capillaries were dried using the oven at 120 °C for 1 hour.



*Figure 15. Soiled wet capillary tubes.* **Contamination level of carbon black powder in capillary tubes** 

The inner contamination levels of capillary tubes were calculated using average soil mass before and after the cleaning process and the inner surface area of the capillary tube. Considering the capillary tube as a cylinder, the inner surface area (A) can be calculated using Eq. 6. The inner volume of the capillary is mostly cylindrical with a half-spherical glass bead at the bottom.



Figure 16. Inner, outer diameters and the inner tube length of the capillary tube.

$$A = \pi r^2 + 2\pi r h \tag{5}$$

According to the inner diameter and height of the capillary tube, the surface area can be calculated as follows;

$$A = \left(\pi \left(\frac{1.12 \ mm}{2}\right)^2\right) + \left(2\pi \left(\frac{1.12 \ mm}{2}\right) 49.00 \ mm\right)$$
$$= 1.73 \ \times 10^2 \ mm^2$$
$$= 1.73 \ cm^2$$

# The limit of detection (LOD) value of the balance

The detection limit of the balance is defined as the minimum mass that can be detected at a known confidence level. Also, it can be expressed as the mass of the analyte at which the signal-to-noise ratio is equal to 3. Below this limit, detection of the signal becomes less statistically confident. The uncertainty of the KERN ABT120-5DM analytical balance is  $\pm$  0.05 mg. Since carbon black powder is measured before and after the cleaning process, the uncertainty for each experiment from the balance can be calculated as follows;

$$S_{result} = \sqrt{S_{before}^2 + S_{after}^2}$$

$$= \sqrt{(0.05 mg)^2 + (0.05 mg)^2}$$
$$= 0.07 mg$$

Then the LOD of the balance becomes 0.21 mg (3 ×0.07 mg). The LOD contamination level for the balance can be calculated by dividing the LOD of the balance by the inner surface area of the capillary tube. Therefore, the contaminated levels below  $121 \ \mu g \ cm^{-2}$  can not be detected confidently using this analytical balance.

In this study, many of the results showed contamination levels below the LOD of the balance. These were indicative of clean samples, but also indicative of our relatively insensitive gravimetric cleanliness monitoring method. For example, contamination levels for many precision cleaning industries are in the ng cm<sup>-2</sup> range.<sup>30</sup>

### Screening of surfactant foaming properties using the cyclic VC method

The effect of the temperature on foam formation in cyclic VC was studied using four surfactant solutions with 1% mass percent concentration. They are sodium lauryl sulfate (SLS), hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB), detergent 8 solution, and alconox. The vacuum chamber was filled with 400 mL surfactant solutions and exposed to a vacuum of 0.01 bar for 1 minute at 18°C, 22°C, and 28°C temperatures. Foam formation was recorded with the camera.

# The number of vacuum cycles

After setting up the apparatus, soiled capillaries were taped to the plexiglass window horizontally and submerged in the cleaning solution. The vacuum was pulled to 0.01 bar and purged with the room air to collapse the cavities and bring fresh fluid into the capillary. This is considered as one vacuum cycle. After the cleaning process, capillaries were dried in an oven at 120° C for 1 hour, and %R was calculated using Eq. 2.

### Comparison of cyclic VC cleaning to ultrasonic cleaning

A conventional cleaning method, ultrasonic cavitation (UC) cleaning with SLS solution was used to clean the same soiled capillary tube samples to compare against the cyclic VC cleaning method. The cleaning agent was pre-mixed with deionized water at a mass ratio of 1: 99 (cleaning agent: water). The contaminated tubes were submerged in the cleaning solution and then exposed to 45 kHz ultrasonic cleaning for 5 minutes. The leftover solution was removed and the parts were dried in an oven at 120° C for 1 hour to remove excess water droplets and the percentage removal calculation was conducted as prescribed in Eq. 2.

To further analyze the effect of capillary tube orientations in these two cleaning processes, two sets of soiled capillary tubes were taped horizontally to the rectangular plexiglass window, submerged in the 1% SLS/DI solution, and cleaned with VC and UC cleaning. Another two sets of soiled capillaries were taped vertically to the plexiglass prism window, submerged in 1% SLS/DI solution, and cleaned with the cyclic VC and UC cleaning. An additional two sets of soiled wet capillaries were taped horizontally and vertically to the rectangular plexiglass window, submerged in the 1% SLS/DI solution, and cleaned with the cyclic VC and UC cleaning. An additional two sets of soiled wet capillaries were taped horizontally and vertically to the rectangular plexiglass window, submerged in the 1% SLS/DI solution, and cleaned with UC cleaning. After each cleaning process, the cleaned capillaries were dried in the oven at 120° C for 1 hour. The %R was calculated based on Eq. 2. The temperature inside the vacuum chamber and ultrasonic bath were maintained at room temperature.

### Cyclic VC cleaning at different temperatures

The vacuum chamber was filled with 1% SLS/DI solution and the temperature of the solution was varied from 25, 30, 35, and 40 °C using the hot plate. Soiled capillaries were taped horizontally to the plexiglass window and submerged in the heated 1% SLS/DI solution and cleaned with 15 cycles. When the temperature was increased in the vacuum chamber, the steam formation interfered with the view of cavity formation in the capillary tubes. Therefore, plexiglass windows were taped to the lid of the chamber during these experiments (Figure 17). After each cleaning process, the cleaned capillaries were dried in the oven at 120° C for 1 hour. The %R was calculated based on Eq. 2.



*Figure 17. Experimental setup for temperature experiments with horizontal capillary tubes.* 

### Tape residue confirmation study of the capillary tubes

Note that the capillary tubes were taped to the plexiglass window when the experiments were performed. Therefore, residues from the tape might have been attached to the capillary tube after the cleaning process and these residues might influence the data and/or the cleaning process. An experiment was done to determine this possibility. Ten empty capillary tubes were taped horizontally and vertically to the rectangular plexiglass window and cleaned with 1%SLS/DI solution in the vacuum chamber using 15 cycles. After the cleaning process, they were dried in an oven for 1 hour. Then before and after masses of capillary tubes were compared.

### Statistical analysis

Two-sample t-test analysis and multi-sample t-test analysis were performed using Minitab 17. The p-values from these statistical tests are the probabilities that the null hypothesis is true. As probabilities, p-values range from 0 to 1. In this study, 0.05 is used as the  $\alpha$  value. Therefore, if the p-value of a test statistic is less than 0.05, the null hypothesis is rejected. For example, consider a two-sample t-test to test the difference between the mean percent removals of two cleaning methods. In this case, the null hypothesis states that the two sample means are equal while the alternative hypothesis states that they are not equal. A p-value below 0.05 suggests that the population means are different with at least 95% confidence  $(1-\alpha)$ .

# Final confirmation study of cyclic VC cleaning

The final confirmation study used all the successful parameters from the previous studies to optimize the cleaning efficiencies in the cyclic VC cleaning method and will be discussed in the results.

#### **CHAPTER III**

### **Results and discussion**

This chapter contains data and discussions that were collected using the methods outlined in Chapter II.

# Cavity observation and cyclic VC cleaning

The observed results showed that cavities were formed after the pressure reduction in the vacuum chamber. At first, the size of cavities increases as the pressure decreases in the chamber. When the pressure starts to return to atmospheric pressure, cavities collapse drawing cleaning fluid into the spaces the cavities occupied. The growing cavities pushed substantial amounts of carbon black powder from the capillary tubes with each vacuum cycle. Figure 18 shows images of cavity growth and the cleaning process. The observed times of each image (10s and 12s) are displayed on the image relative to the starting time of the pressure reduction. Large cavities were formed in the solution while small cavities were formed inside of the capillary tube. These small cavities were growing inside the capillary tube and were responsible for the internal cleaning. When the cavities are coming out from the capillaries, they were also able to push the soil away from the capillary tubes. This indicates that the cleaning is related to the movement of cavities.



Figure 18. Cleaning process by cavitation effect.

#### Foam behavior of surfactants

The effect of the temperature on foaming was studied using four 1% surfactant solutions in DI water using the vacuum chamber. Images of foams and cavities for the temperature data with different surfactant solutions are presented in Figure 19. It can be noted that the foaming is decreased with increasing temperature. Foaming is not desired in cyclic VC cleaning, as it can enter the vacuum system potentially degrading the effectiveness of the vacuum pump. Therefore, the increasing temperature in the vacuum chamber to reduce the foaming in the cleaning solution is advantageous. According to the results, 1% detergent 8 in DI water gave the lowest foaming effect when the pressure was reduced, but it was not used ecause of its proprietary composition. Since the cavities were not observable through the white CTAB solution, it was also not used as a cleaning solution. Since alconox gave more foaming than SLS at higher temperatures, the best option was 1% SLS in DI water for cleaning purposes. Also, SLS is an inexpensive surfactant and can be easily purchased. According to the previous studies and Raoult's law calculations, 1% SLS in 99% DI water has the same vapor pressure as water.

Considering all these results, 1% SLS/DI solution was used as the cleaning solution in the current study.



Figure 19. Images of foam and cavity formation of 1% surfactant solutions in DI water at different temperatures in the vacuum chamber.

# Cyclic VC cleaning with DI water and 1% SLS/DI water

As the first mode of cleaning experiments, DI water and 1% SLS/DI were used to remove CB powder from capillary tubes. The carbon black powder was used as the model soil because it is similar to sooty carbon contamination from overheated cooling fluids. Sooty carbon soil is common in many industries.<sup>31</sup> Soils of all types become hard to clean when trapped in tight spaces of components with complex geometries and in blind holes, which are similar to our capillary test pieces. After the capillaries were treated with cyclic VC cleaning, the percentage removal of carbon black powder from capillaries was measured. In Figure 20, the cleaning efficiencies (%R) between DI water and 1% SLS/DI solution are compared at room temperature. In this experiment, all the

capillaries were placed horizontally in the vacuum chamber. Significant amounts of carbon black powder remained in the capillary tubes after the fifteen cycles of VC treatment. It can be seen that  $82 \pm 7\%$  of the carbon black powder is removed from the capillary tubes after 15 cycles using 1% SLS/DI solution, indicating that the cleaning efficiency of using 1% SLS/DI solution is higher than treatment with DI water alone at room temperature.



Figure 20. Percentage removals of CB powder with the number of vacuum cycles at room temperature.

This is understandable because the removal of carbon black powder from the capillaries by 1% SLS/DI solution is aided by the low surface tension of the surfactant solution. However, most of the cleaning was taking place in the initial twelve cycles, which results in  $82 \pm 7\%$  and  $67 \pm 7\%$  of the carbon black powder being removed with 1% SLS/DI solution and DI water, respectively. In this case, the remaining carbon black

powder was strongly attached to the bottom of the capillary tube. It was difficult to get the cleaning solution to fully wet the very bottom of the tube making the soil in the bottom and resistant to removal. This suggests that it is necessary to wet the internal surface of the bottom of the capillary tube with the cleaning solution to get better removal. As a solution for this problem, the temperature of the cleaning solution was increased and the results of temperature experiments were detailed on page 48.

### Comparison of cyclic VC cleaning to ultrasonic cleaning

To compare cyclic VC cleaning to ultrasonic cleaning, six cleaning treatments were used. Table 4 displays the percentage removals of carbon black powder with each cleaning treatment. 1% SLS/DI solution was used as the cleaning solution at room temperature. Capillary tubes were placed horizontally and vertically in VC and cleaned with fifteen cycles of cavity formation and removal. A 45 kHz bath was used to clean dry and wet capillary tubes using the ultrasonic treatment for 5 minutes. In this case, it was apparent that the highest % R was observed when capillaries were placed horizontally in VC with  $82 \pm 7\%$  removal. On the other hand, the highest percentage removal was observed for UC cleaning was the vertical dry capillaries with  $56 \pm 12\%$  removal. Following each treatment in VC, the amount of CB powder removed in the capillaries is higher than all the treatment methods in ultrasonic cleaning because UC was unable to flush the carbon black soil from the internal volume of the capillary tubes.

Table 4. Comparison of cleaning ability (%R) of vacuum cavitation (VC), wet/dry ultrasonic cavitation (UC), and vertical/horizontal sample orientation at room

$\alpha$
----------

Cleaning method	Number of cycles or frequency / time	Cleaning solution	% R
Horizontal wet VC	15 cycles / 5 minutes	1% SLS/DI water	82 ± 7
		DI water	$67 \pm 7$
Vertical wet VC	15 cycles / 5 minutes	1% SLS/DI water	65 ± 5
		DI water	$60 \pm 14$
Horizontal dry UC	45 kHz / 5 minutes	1% SLS/DI water	23 ± 11
		DI water	$11 \pm 4$
Horizontal wet UC	45 kHz / 5 minutes	1% SLS/DI water	$10 \pm 3$
		DI water	$9\pm 2$
Vertical dry UC	45 kHz / 5 minutes	1% SLS/DI water	56 ± 12
		DI water	$53 \pm 3$
Vertical wet UC	45 kHz / 5 minutes	1% SLS/DI water	27 ± 2
		DI water	$19\pm5$

In horizontal dry ultrasonic cleaning, only the vibration of carbon black powder was seen in the capillary tube. This observation is shown in Figure 21. Due to this, very little soil is flushed out from the capillary tubes whereas, in cyclic VC cleaning, the flushing effect of the growing cavities was observed as in Figure 18. In horizontal wet ultrasonic cleaning, carbon black powder was stuck to the bottom of the capillary tube and was not be able to come out from the tubes. Therefore, it gave the lowest percentage removal compared to the other methods.



Figure 21. Effect of ultrasonic vibration in horizontal dry capillary tube cleaning.

When vertical dry capillaries were used in ultrasonic cleaning, carbon black powder was stuck in the tip of the capillary tubes and was not able to come out from the tubes. This can be seen in Figure 22.



*Figure 22. CB powder is stuck in the tip of the capillary tubes in vertical dry UC cleaning.* 

Vertical wet cleaning in ultrasonic, carbon black powder was stuck to the bottom of the capillary tube and was resistant to come out from the tubes. To further analyze these data, the results from all the methods are summarized in Figure 23. This Multi-Vari chart displays the means for all the factors and examines the relationship between them. Individual data points are shown in grey while blue lines show the difference of %R using dry and wet capillary tubes, red lines display the differences of %R by using horizontal and vertical capillaries, and green lines illustrate the differences of %R values using cyclic VC cleaning and UC cleaning methods. According to the chart, cyclic VC gives the best results for both horizontal and vertical capillaries with DI water and 1% SLS/DI water solution. This was further analyzed with a two-sample t-test analysis and it gave a p-value < 0.0005 indicating there is a difference between these two methods.



Figure 23. Multi-Vari chart for the percentage removals using cyclic VC and UC cleaning methods with dry and wet capillary tubes by changing the orientation of the tubes using different cleaning solutions.

The Interval plot for means of percentage removals with both methods is shown in Figure 24 (a). It clearly shows that means of percentage removals of both methods are statistically different. Also, the trend between the horizontal and vertical capillaries in VC cleaning and UC cleaning was studied. Two-sample t-test gave p-values of 0.078 and less than 0.0005 for VC cleaning and ultrasonic cleaning respectively (Figure 24 (b) and Figure 24 (c)). It indicates that there was less than a 7.8% chance of statistical difference in capillary tube orientation in cyclic VC cleaning. However, the orientation of capillary tubes in ultrasonic cleaning has an impact on the capillary tube cleaning efficiencies.



Figure 24. Mean percent removals with (a) different cleaning methods, (b) capillary tube orientation in VC cleaning, (c) capillary tube orientation in UC cleaning, and (d) dry and wet capillary tubes in UC cleaning.

Note: All the experiments were done with 1% SLS/DI solution at room temperature using 15 cycles with stirring.

Since ultrasonic cleaning was studied with dry and wet capillary tubes, their cleaning efficiencies were studied. According to the interval plot in Figure 24 (d), the means of percentage removals were different for both dry and wet capillaries. Also, the two-sample t-test gave a p-value of 0.011 indicating there is a difference between these two orientations in UC cleaning.

### Damage from cavitation in UC and VC cleaning methods

In UC, transient cavitation can damage the surface of the components. This effect is demonstrated using foil-covered microscope slides soiled with a sharpie. To compare cavitation damage in UC to VC at 40 °C, photographs were taken with both methods.

Figure 25 shows UC and VC damage of the sharpie area on aluminum foil when cleaned with 1% SLS/DI solution. UC experiments were conducted with different sonic power densities for 5 minutes using a 45 kHz ultrasonic bath while the VC experiment was completed with 25 cycles. In UC, there was some removal of a sharpie in sonic power density at 2.4 WL<sup>-1</sup> and less damage on the foil can be seen in both trials. In UC trial 1, less cleaning effect was seen sonic density at 7.2 WL<sup>-1</sup> than 2.4 WL<sup>-1</sup>. The cleaning solution which we used at 7.2 WL<sup>-1</sup> was degassed not as much of the cleaning solution at 2.4 WL<sup>-1</sup>. This may be the reason for the above observation since more gas in the cleaning solution causes decreased transient cavitation action.<sup>13</sup> Moreover, in UC trial 2, more damage and cleaning at 7.2 WL<sup>-1</sup> than 2.4 WL<sup>-1</sup> confirms that statement. The highest damage was observed when the samples were cleaned at 16.8 WL<sup>-1</sup> in UC cleaning. As a common conclusion, if the sonic density is lowered, the transient cavitation is decreased causing low damage to the foil. On the other hand, when sonic density increases, the transient cavitation is increased causing faster cleaning action but only up to some point. Beyond that point, it may damage parts with soft metals and coatings.

There were no damage observations in the cyclic VC and some removal of sharpie was observed. There is no comparable power density rating in VC cleaning, only the number of vacuum cycles. In UC cleaning, the power level should be set to maximize the cleaning performance while minimizing the risk of damage.



*Figure 25. Damage initiated by UC on sharpie areas of foil-covered microscope slides in comparison to VC cleaning method.* 

# Temperature effect for the cleaning efficiencies in cyclic VC

The temperature effect has been studied with the cleaning efficiencies using cyclic VC. The cleaning liquid was heated before the cleaning process. efficiencies were increased due to the increased cavity formation (nucleation) and faster cavity growth.

Table 5 shows that, upon the introduction of higher temperatures to the cleaning solution, higher removals of carbon black powder were observed. It can be seen that  $97 \pm 5\%$  of the carbon black powder is removed from the capillaries after 15 cycles of cavity formation and dissolution in 1% SLS/DI solution at 40°C indicating that the cleaning efficiency is much higher than treatment at room temperature. By increasing the temperature, the energy of the liquid was increased and it helps to create more gas molecules with higher kinetic energies. Thus at higher temperatures, when the pressure is

reduced, cavitation action is increased. Therefore, cleaning efficiencies were increased due to the increased cavity formation (nucleation) and faster cavity growth.

Temperature / °C	% R
17.8	82 + 2
17.0	$02 \pm 2$
25.0	$84 \pm 3$
30.0	87 + 5
50.0	07 ± 5
35.0	$92\pm 8$
40.0	07 + 5
40.0	$9/\pm 3$

Table 5. Percentage removals at different temperatures.

*Note*: All the experiments were done with 1% SLS/DI water solution using 15 cycles without stirring. The ambient room temperature was 17.8°C.

Furthermore, these results were compared using multi-sample t-test analysis in Minitab 17. The multi-sample t-test is a statistical analysis designed to compare the means of multiple sets of data. All five experiments were performed using the 1% SLS/DI solution. Figure 26 shows 95% confidence intervals for the means of the data, and the overlaps between 17.8 - 25 °C and 17.8 - 30 °C indicate that there are no statistically significant differences of mean percent removals at temperatures 17.8, 25, and 30 °C. However, there is a significant difference in mean percent removals at temperatures 17.8 and 35 °C. There is an overlap between 35 and 40 °C indicating that the means of percent removals are similar at temperatures 35 and 40 °C. The p-value for 35 vs 40 °C was 0.078 showing that there is no significant difference between mean %R values at temperatures 35 and 40 °C.



*Figure 26. Multi-sample t-test analysis at different temperatures.* 

The stirring effect for carbon black powder percentage removals from capillaries was studied using the temperature change in the cleaning solution. In these experiments, the cleaning solution was stirred at 1200 rpm. Figure 27 shows the plot of %R data with stirring and non-stirring. The %R was determined in triplicate for all the experiments. According to this test, the carbon black powder levels in the capillaries after cleaning for both stirring and non-stirring appear to be similar. The 95% confidence intervals for the means of the data overlap significantly, indicating the means for both methods are possibly not different. The p-value of 0.266 indicates that there is no statistically significant difference in the data between these two methods. Therefore, the stirring effect did not significantly improve the cleaning of carbon black powder from capillary tubes in our studies. However, it can be seen in the videos of the experiments that stirring

the solution helps to reduce the reintroduction of the carbon black powder to the capillary tubes when the vacuum is purged.



Figure 27. Two-sample t-test for stirring and non-stirring.

### Surface contamination level of the capillary tubes

To find out the contamination level of capillary tubes before and after the

cleaning process, the average mass of carbon black powder in capillaries was calculated.

Carbon black powder contamination level before cleaning can be calculated as follows;

$$\frac{Average\ carbon\ black\ powder\ before\ cleaning}{Surface\ area\ of\ the\ inner\ cylinder} = \frac{2.053\ mg}{1.73\ cm^2} = \frac{1.187\ mg}{cm^2} = \frac{1187\ \mu g}{cm^2}$$

CB powder contamination level after cleaning can be calculated using the below

equation.

$$\frac{Average\ carbon\ black\ powder\ after\ cleaning}{Surface\ area\ of\ the\ inner\ cylinder} = \frac{0.029\ mg}{1.73\ cm^2} = \frac{0.017\ mg}{cm^2} = \frac{17\ \mu g}{cm^2}$$

According to the LOD contamination level of the balance, 121  $\mu$ g cm<sup>-2</sup> was the smallest contamination level that can be confidently calculated using the balance. Therefore, the carbon black powder contamination level after the cleaning process is below the LOD contamination level of the five places KERN ABT120-5DM analytical balance.

#### Tape residue confirmation study

When capillary tubes were taped to the plexiglass windows for cleaning purposes, tape residues may influence our data. Therefore, an experiment was performed to determine if the tape residues on the cleaned capillary tubes have an impact on the percent removals of carbon black powder. The difference between means of before and after masses of capillary tubes was 0.002 mg and the standard deviation was 0.02 mg. These small values revealed that the tape residues were not interfering with the cleaned capillary tube mass in the experiments.

# **Optimization of cleaning in cyclic VC**

From our previous studies, we figured the best temperature, number of vacuum cycles, and capillary tube orientation in the cyclic VC cleaning method. Even though stirring gave no significant difference to the results, this final study was done with stirring since it showed some improvement. When all of these successful parameters are set correctly, capillary tubes were cleaned with higher percentage removals. Table 6 shows the percentage removals of ten capillary tubes using cyclic VC cleaning at 40 °C with 1% SLS/DI solution and 15 cycles.

Orientation	T / °C	Cycles	Percent Removal
Horizontal	40	15	98.1%
Horizontal	40	15	98.8%
Horizontal	40	15	98.4%
Horizontal	40	15	99.2%
Horizontal	40	15	97.3%
Vertical	40	15	99.5%
Vertical	40	15	97.8%
Vertical	40	15	99.0%
Vertical	40	15	98.4%
Vertical	40	15	99.4%

Table 6. Percentage removals of final confirmation study using cyclic VC cleaning

Note: 1% SLS/DI solution was used as the cleaning solution.

Average percentage removals for horizontal and vertical capillary tube orientations were  $98.3 \pm 0.7\%$  and  $98.8 \pm 0.7\%$  respectively. To further analyze these results, a two-sample t-test was done and the p-value of 0.326 indicates that there is no statistically significant difference in the data between these two orientations (Figure 28). This capillary tube orientation result was similar to the experiments that were done at room temperature with different orientations using the cyclic VC cleaning.



Figure 28. Interval Plot of Percent Removals using VC cleaning wth 1% SLS/DI solution using 15 cycles at 40 °C.

Therefore, considering the uncertainty of the analytical balance and the cleaned capillary tube contamination levels, we can conclude that these capillary tubes are cleaned well.

#### **CHAPTER IV**

### Conclusions

The removal of micron-sized carbon black particles from capillary tubes by reducing pressure in a sealed chamber has been investigated. Vacuum cavities are generated in the laminar flow region close to the component surface which push carbon black powder soil away from the internal surface and out of the captured volume of the capillary tubes. The preliminary cleaning performance using vacuum-generated cavities coupled with deionized water removed  $67 \pm 7\%$  of carbon black powder from contaminated capillary tubes. Then, minor modifications on the cleaning solution with 1% mass concentration sodium lauryl sulfate solution successfully remove  $82 \pm 7\%$  of carbon black powder soil from capillary tubes with fifteen cleaning cycles at room temperature.

The carbon black powder removal performance of the newly set up cyclic vacuum cavitation cleaning is compared with ultrasonic cavitation cleaning to evaluate its cleaning efficiency. The presence of a small amount of sodium lauryl sulfate surfactant in deionized water was able to increase the cleaning efficiencies. The cleaning efficiency of 1% SLS in deionized water was able to remove approximately  $99 \pm 1\%$  of the carbon black powder from capillary tubes using 25 vacuum cycles at 40 °C. When the temperature is increased in the cleaning solution, it is clear that the increased cavitation action significantly improves the cleaning efficiency. Pressure and temperature ranges in this study varied from ambient (1 bar) to 0.01 bar and 17.8 to 40 °C respectively.

The goal of testing the construction of a benchtop vacuum cavitation apparatus was achieved. This vacuum cavitation setup allowed the visualization of the cavities and the cleaning process. The aspirator vacuum pump was an inexpensive way to generate a vacuum and it was useful since no precautions needed to be taken against the entrance of vapors into the aspirator tank. The plexiglass lid and thick windows were helpful with the visualization of the cavities inside the vacuum chamber. The combined analysis of imaging, video recordings, and gravimetric analysis tests helped to identify cleaning efficiencies in both vacuum cavitation and ultrasonic cavitation cleaning methods.

Secondly, it was found that cleaning of blind hole capillary samples was more effective with cyclic vacuum cavitation than ultrasonic cavitation cleaning at given conditions. In ultrasonic cleaning, sample orientation was important (vertical > horizontal) and dry soil seemed to be removed more effectively. The best result was  $56 \pm 12\%$  for dry vertical ultrasonic cleaning with 1% SLS in DI water. Optimal operating conditions in vacuum cavitation such as 40 °C and 25 cycles can be used to accelerate the cleaning process for carbon black powder from capillary tubes. Even though stirring had no significant difference to the cleaning efficiencies in cyclic vacuum cavitation cleaning, it can be seen in the videos of the experiments that stirring the solution helps to reduce the reintroduction of the Carbon black powder to the capillary tubes when the vacuum is purged. This study has shown experimental evidence for cleaning capillary tubes using cyclic vacuum cavitation coupled with a dilute surfactant solution as a good cleaning approach.

#### **CHAPTER V**

### **Future Studies**

As cleaning with vacuum-generated cavities has a large potential to improve, continuous investigations can be done to improve the cleaning efficiency. Future studies should be done in the characterization of component surfaces to determine the effect of cleaning action on its structure such as damage to the surface of the components.

Weighting multiple soiled capillary tube samples in a batch can be done to get a lower LOD from the 5-place balance. To achieve nanoscale contamination levels, more sensitive analytical techniques on soil extracts from the capillaries can be used for cleanliness monitoring. However, these techniques would have difficulty with insoluble carbon black powder.

Since ethanol and acetone have higher vapor pressures than water at room temperature, cavitation should be much more rapid with these solvents. Also, the ability to interact with oily soils may be much more favorable with these volatile solvents. Therefore, in the future, it is worth studying carbon black powder removal using ethanol and acetone since they may be able to clean the carbon black powder from the capillary tubes much faster and would be much faster drying.

It may be beneficial to study ultrasonic cavitation followed by vacuum cavitation to see if effective cleaning can be achieved at lower temperatures. Transient ultrasonic cavitation can loosen the soil from the surface but has difficulty flushing the soil from deep blind holes. Vacuum cavitation is effective at flushing these structures.

#### REFERENCES

- Gray, D.; Fredrick, C. Method for Removing Particles and Non-Volatile Residue from an Object. US 2003/0226576 A1, 2002.
- Plavidal, R. W. Dynamic Chamber For Cycle Nucleation Technology. US 2013/0276819 A1, 2013.
- Liu, G.; Wu, Z.; Craig, V. S. J. Cleaning of Protein-Coated Surfaces Using Nanobubbles: An Investigation Using a Quartz Crystal Microbalance. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2008, *112* (43), 16748–16753.
- (4) Chen, F.; Kazarians, G.; Beaudet, R.; Kern, R. An Evaluation of Novel Cleaning Techniques for Planetary Protection Applications. *IEEE Aerosp. Conf. Proc.* 2008, 1–8.
- (5) Zhang, J.; Fei, Y. X.; Shi, H. A Highly Reliable Cleaning Process. Proc. 2018
   19th Int. Conf. Electron. Packag. Technol. ICEPT 2018, 834–839.
- Birkin, P. R.; Offin, D. G.; Leighton, T. G. An Activated Fluid Stream New Techniques for Cold Water Cleaning. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 2016, 29, 612–618.
- (7) Taborelli, M. Cleaning and Surface Properties. *Tech. Rep.* **2006**, 321–340.
- (8) Hansen, C. M. Hansen Solubility Parameters: A User's Handbook; New york, 2007.
- Kohli, R. Methods for Monitoring and Measuring Cleanliness of Surfaces. In *Elsevier*; 2012; Vol. 4, pp 107–178.
- (10) Prosperetti, A. Bubbles. *Phys. Fluids* **2004**, *16*, 1852–1865.
- (11) Rayleigh, Lord. VIII. On the Pressure Developed in a Liquid during the Collapse of a Spherical Cavity. J. Sci. 1917, 34, 94–98.

- (12) Bulat, T. J. Macrosonics in Industry. *Ultrasonics* 1974, 12, 59–68.
- (13) Gielen, B.; Jordens, J.; Janssen, J.; Pfeiffer, H.; Wevers, M.; Thomassen, L. C. J.;
  Braeken, L.; Van Gerven, T. Characterization of Stable and Transient Cavitation
  Bubbles in a Milliflow Reactor Using a Multibubble Sonoluminescence
  Quenching Technique. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 2015, *25*, 31–39.
- (14) Plavidal, R. W. Methods and Systems for Cleaning Forcyclic Nucleation Transport (CNX). US 2013/0167879 A1, 2013.
- (15) Novak, J.; Scardina, P.; Edwards, M. Cavitation and Bubble Formation in Water Distribution Systems. *AWWA 124th Annu. Conf. Expo. World's Water Event, ACE* 2005.
- (16) Verhaagen, B.; Fernández Rivas, D. Measuring Cavitation and Its Cleaning Effect.
   *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 2016, 29, 619–628.
- (17) Tangsopha, W.; Thongsri, J.; Busayaporn, W. Simulation of Ultrasonic Cleaning and Ways to Improve the Efficiency. 2017 Int. Electr. Eng. Congr. iEECON 2017, No. March.
- (18) Yusof, N. S. M.; Babgi, B.; Alghamdi, Y.; Aksu, M.; Madhavan, J.; Ashokkumar,
   M. Physical and Chemical Effects of Acoustic Cavitation in Selected Ultrasonic
   Cleaning Applications. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* 2016, 29, 568–576.
- (19) Nagarajan, R.; Awad, S.; Gopi, K. R. Megasonic Cleaning. Dev. Surf. Contam. Clean. - Methods Remov. Part. Contam. 2011, 31–62.
- (20) Tan, K. A.; Mohan, Y.; Liew, K. J.; Chong, S. H.; Poh, P. E. Development of an Effective Cleaning Method for Metallic Parts Using Microbubbles. *J. Clean. Prod.* 2020, *261*, 121076.

- (21) Plavidal, R. Cyclic Nucleation Process. US 2010/0192978 A1, 2010.
- Bröll, D.; Kaul, C.; Krämer, A.; Krammer, P.; Richter, T.; Jung, M.; Vogel, H.;Zehner, P. Chemistry in Supercritical Water. *Angew. Chem.* 1999, *38*, 2998–3014.
- (23) Zhu, J.; An, H.; Alheshibri, M.; Liu, L.; Terpstra, P. M. J.; Liu, G.; Craig, V. S. J.
   Cleaning with Bulk Nanobubbles. *Langmuir* 2016, *32*, 11203–11211.
- (24) Bondi, C. A. M.; Marks, J. L.; Wroblewski, L. B.; Raatikainen, H. S.; Lenox, S. R.; Gebhardt, K. E. Human and Environmental Toxicity of Sodium Lauryl Sulfate (SLS): Evidence for Safe Use in Household Cleaning Products. *Environ. Health Insights* 2015, *9*, 27–32.
- (25) Li, P.; Han, B.; Yan, H.; Liu, R. Vapor Pressure of the Aqueous Solution of Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate. J. Chem. Eng. Data 1996, 41, 285–286.
- (26) Carey, E.; Stubenrauch, C. Properties of Aqueous Foams Stabilized by Dodecyltrimethylammonium Bromide. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2009, 333, 619– 627.
- (27) Fameau, A. L.; Saint-Jalmes, A. Non-Aqueous Foams: Current Understanding on the Formation and Stability Mechanisms. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* 2017, 247, 454–464.
- (28) Duval, P. Vacuum Pumps. *Energ. Fluide* 1987, 26 (6, Oct. 1987), 35–37.
   https://doi.org/10.1201/b13708-13.
- (29) Cubberley, M. S.; Hess, W. A.; Johnson, M. B. An Inexpensive Recirculating Water Vacuum Pump for the Chemistry Laboratory. *J. Chem. Educ.* 2020, *97*, 1495–1499.
- (30) Kohli, R. Types of Contaminants and Cleanliness Levels. In Developments in

(31) Feedstock, C. Carbon Black. *Transport* **2004**, *4*, 21–24.
# VITA

# **RAJAMANTHREE W.U.N. ARIYARATHNA**

Department of Chemistry, Sam Houston State University, TX 77341 LinkedIn: <u>https://www.linkedin.com/in/nethmini-ariyarathne</u>

### **EDUCATION**

2019 – present	M.S. Chemistry, Sam Houston State University, TX
2019	B.S. Environmental Science, University of Peradeniya, Sri
Lanka	

### **RESEARCH EXPERIENCE**

2019 - present		Graduate Research Assistant, Sam Houston State University
	0	Advisor: Dr. Darren L. Williams
	0	Vacuum Cycle Cavitation (VCC) process for cleaning applications
	0	https://bfksolutions.com/nethmini-ariyarathna-vacuum-cycle- cavitation-cleaning/
Jan 2019 - July 2019 Sri Lanka	]	Research Assistant, National Institute of Fundamental Science,
	0	Advisor: Prof. Rohan Weerasooriya
	0	Water quality testing and groundwater classification using chemical species in groundwater systems
2017 - 2019	Ur o	ndergraduate Research Assistant, University of Peradeniya Advisor: Prof. Rohan Weerasooriya
	0	Water quality index calculations using chemical species in groundwater systems

## HONORS AND AWARDS

2020	Chemistry Academic Scholarship, Sam Houston State University
2019/2020	College of Science and Engineering Technology Graduate
	Achievement Scholarship, Sam Houston State University
2017	Award of honors for the Environmental Science, University of
Peradeniya	
2009	Award for academic excellence in Ordinary Level Examination,
	St.Anthony's Girls College, Kandy, Sri Lanka

#### **TEACHING EXPERIENCE**

2019 – present	Graduate Teaching Assistant: General Chemistry I Laboratory
	(Sam Houston State University)
2019 – present	Departmental Tutor: General Chemistry, Environmental
Chemistry	
2019 (Fall)	Graduate Teaching Assistant: Environmental Chemistry
	Laboratory (Sam Houston State University)

#### **PRESENTATIONS**

- 1. Ariyarathna. N.; Volek. T.; Williams. D.L. Comparison of vacuum cycle cavitation to ultrasonic cavitation cleaning applications, American Chemical Society (ACS) (2021)
- Ariyarathna. N.; Jayawardana. Y.; Pathmanathan. R.; Weerasooriya. R. Geochemical classification of groundwater by piper diagrams and principle component analysis, Water and Development Congress & Exhibition, Colombo, Sri Lanka (2019)
- Ariyarathna. N.; Jayawardana. Y.; Pathmanathan. R.; Weerasooriya. R. A hierarchical clustering approach to groundwater classification, International Symposium on Water and Air Pollution by Postgraduate Institute of Science (PGIS), University of Peradeniya and National Chung Hsing University (NCHU), Taiwan (2019)
- Ariyarathna. N.; Weerasooriya. R. Applications of Integrated Water Quality Index (IWQI) for rapid demarcation of palatability problems in groundwater, Geological Society of Sri Lanka (2019)
- Ariyarathna. N.; Jayawardana. Y.; Pathmanathan. R.; Jayasundera. C.; Wijekoon. P.; Weerasooriya. R. Selection of nitrate as an anthropogenic indicator for natural background level estimation, NIFS-Young Scientists' Symposium on Multidisciplinary Research, Kandy, Sri Lanka (2019).

## **ADDITIONAL EXPERIENCE AND ACTIVITIES**

- Membership American Chemical Society (ACS) (2019 present)
- Membership Cleaning Research Group (CRG), Sam Houston State University (2019 present)
- Membership Rotaract Club, University of Peradeniya (2017 2019)
- Membership Statistical circle, Faculty of Science, University of Peradeniya (2014-2019)

- Membership Chemical Society, Faculty of Science, University of Peradeniya (2014-2019)
- Participated in the 6<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on "Water Quality and Human Health: Challenges Ahead" organized by the Postgraduate Institute of Science (PGIS), University of Peradeniya (2017)
- Completed the Certificate test in English Language Teaching Unit (ELTU), Faculty of Science, University of Peradeniya (2016)
- Completed Developing Leadership Qualities and Positive Thinking program conducted by Ministry of Higher education, Sri Lanka (2014)
- Committee member of Science Society, Mahamaya Girls' College, Kandy, Sri Lanka (2011-2012)
- Participated in provincial school educational software competition conducted by Ministry of Education, Sri Lanka (2008)
- Completed Information Communication Technology Course (3 months) conducted by Education Development Center, Ministry of Education (September 2007 -December 2007)